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These comments are in response to the Minnesota Pollution Control Agency (MPCA)’s PolyMet NorthMet Draft Air Permit announcement for comments January 31, 2018.  The mine site is still not owned by the project proponent.  The project proponent still has no legal right to construct facilities at mine site. The mine site is subject to legal decisions that put proposer’s access to the surface for the purpose of mining at risk.  If this risk results in no access for PolyMet’s mining, this MPCA action for public comment would be a waste of time, money and resources, and so also would any further action by state agencies on permits.  The same is true from the beginning of the project.  If PolyMet does not obtain access to the surface of the mine property, this EIS has been a waste.  Minnesota Department of Natural Resources (MDNR) should have seen this in February 2005 and stopped the project when the proposer laid the environmental assessment worksheet (EAW) information in its lap, and MPCA should also have seen this when it received its first completed Air Emissions Risk Assessment from PolyMet in February 2005 (PolyMet submitted its first AERA to MPCA in February 2005 as a part of the air permit process according to PolyMet’s Technical Report on the NorthMet Project, submitted to Securities Exchange Commission, Oct. 2006.) 



Nonetheless, under the provisions of the Minnesota Environmental Rights Act (Minn. Stat. Ch. 116B), we also make these comments to protect Minnesota’s air, water, land, and other natural resources from pollution and destruction. We comment here on the MPCA Air Quality permit to inform and notice MPCA, MDNR and responsible federal agencies of our identification of numerous illegalities identified in the Final Environmental Impact Statement (FEIS) that is the lawful basis for the Air Permit.



The state agencies, the Responsible Government Unit MDNR and MPCA, use the FEIS to inform “permitting and approval processes and describes mitigation measures that may be available”; federal agencies U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) and the US Forest Service (USFS) use the FEIS to evaluate “the potential to significantly affect the quality of the human environment” for their subsequent major federal action permitting and approval processes (FEIS, p. ES-3).  The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) and the Minnesota Department of Health (MDH) also had critical roles in review of the FEIS.  All of these agencies knew, or should have known, that this is the first copper/nickel/cobalt/ platinum group elements mine in Minnesota, and that this mine differs from other Minnesota and regional mines in many ways reasonably expected to be potentially significant for human and ecological health.  The people of Minnesota expect and deserve an excellent job of evaluating impacts on the human and ecological environment, and they did their parts in providing their scientific and knowledgeable reviews through commenting.  Federal and state agencies are in legal violation when they ignored the substance of many of these comments.  Not providing many of the cited final documents forming the basis for the FEIS and MDNR Record of Decision for over a decade are also legal violations under the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), and associated agency-specific regulations governing the activities of the agencies responsible for the FEIS, for review of the FEIS, and empowered to act as safe-guards against state and federal malfeasance. 

 

Since federal and state laws, rules or requirements are violated as described below, especially crimes under Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMJ), then Minnesota cannot proceed with any permitting until such time as federal and state infractions, illegalities and/or crimes are adjudicated and remedied.



The following violations of environmental laws and regulations by the Co-Leads and USEPA invalidate the FEIS and preclude issuance of any permits.  Co-leads’ and EPA’s oversights, omissions and errors, irregularities, inaccuracies, incompleteness outright misuse and avoidance of environmental laws and regulations are described. We conclude the previous and following violations, alone or together, are so egregious that they constitute bad faith, waste, fraud and abuse in an effort to suppress knowledge of impacts and predetermine the outcome of the EIS.  The regulation 40 CFR 1508.18 specifies that Major federal actions include the circumstance where the responsible officials fail to act and that failure to act is reviewable by courts or administrative tribunals under the Administrative Procedure Act or other applicable law as agency action.





AERA 



Violation: The Co-Leads failed their responsibility for evaluation of accuracy and completeness when they allowed the federal EIS to use a state AERA process that is not recognized by the USEPA as a human health risk assessment tool; not recognized by national scholars or by federal agencies or used by such as a replacement for standard USEPA complete protocols. MPCA is using a tool that minimizes risks – either they are hiding risk information from the public or the preparers are not competent to identify the inadequacies of the tool for this complex new-to-the-state mining project.  The use of this tool in making decisions for the Air permit is inappropriate; the Air permit should be based on a full HHRA using USEPA protocols.  

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: APA, Sec.10(e); Action unsupported by substantial evidence is unlawful.

40 CFR 1500.1 (b) NEPA procedures must insure that environmental information is available to public officials and citizens before decisions are made and before actions are taken. The information must be of high quality. Accurate scientific analysis, expert agency comments, and public scrutiny are essential to implementing NEPA

40 CFR 1502.2 (b); Impacts shall be discussed in proportion to their significance.

40 CFR 1502.22 (b) shall evaluate impacts based on theoretical approaches or research methods generally accepted in the scientific community.

40 CFR 1502.24 Agencies shall insure the professional integrity, including scientific integrity. 

40 CFR 1506.5 (c) Federal officials are responsible for independent evaluation, scope and content of the entire EIS; Independently evaluate the information submitted; Be responsible for its accuracy; In the EIS provide the names of the persons responsible for the independent evaluation in the list of preparers; Work needs to be verified.

Minn. Stat. Ch. 116D.03 Subd 2 (2) Utilize a systematic, interdisciplinary approach that will insure the integrated use of the natural and social sciences and the environmental arts in planning and in decision making which may have an impact on the environment; … consultation with persons in appropriate fields of specialization to ensure that the latest and most authoritative findings in administrative decision making as quickly and as amply as possible.



Violation: The Co-Leads failed from the beginning of scoping to assure accuracy and completeness in the AERA – it was so incomplete in scoping that the mine dust was completely ignored and only the plant emissions AERA was included in the 2005 scoping (documented in Application for a Permit to Construct and Operate v1 Aug 2016-1, Table 8-1).  The mine AERA was not completed until 2008.  Later, the Co-Leads again failed when they allowed the emissions from the mine and the plant to be addressed as two independent unrelated sources in two AERAs. In fact, the mining facility would be located on the same contiguous property and will be physically connected by railroad, roads, and piping resulting in a single large source of emissions. The artificial separation of the facility’s human health impacts is not a method generally accepted in the scientific community because this allowed improper reducing of the predicted human health impacts. Thus, the federal co-leads FEIS decision of acceptable impact to human health is an arbitrary capricious abuse of discretion.  There is no basis to proceed with permitting. 

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated:

Administrative Procedures Act, Pub. L. 79-404, Sec.10(e), Action unsupported by substantial evidence is unlawful. 

NEPA Sec. 101 (b) 2,3.  Federal agencies are responsible to assure use of resources without risk to health.

40 CFR 1502.22 (b) shall evaluate impacts based on theoretical approaches or research methods generally accepted in the scientific community.



Violation:  MDNR, USACE and USFS did not support the EIS with evidence the agencies made the necessary independent analyses for the AERA, which is only a summary, however a review of the AERA process indicates the full analysis is missing from the FEIs, so no federal responsible agency even made an effort to review the AERA at any time during the entire FEIS process.  

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: APA Sec.10(e); Action unsupported by substantial evidence is unlawful.

NEPA Sec. 102 (D) (iii) the responsible Federal official independently evaluates such statement prior to its approval and adoption.

40 CFR 1506.5 agency shall independently evaluate the information submitted and shall be responsible for its accuracy… acceptable work not be redone, but that it be verified by the agency.

40 CFR 1502.1, Federal officials are responsible for full and fair discussion of impacts, concise clear and to the point supported by evidence that made necessary analyses of impacts and alternatives.

40 CFR 1500.2 (f) Policy. Federal agencies shall to the fullest extent possible: …(f) Use all practicable means, consistent with the requirements of the Act and other essential considerations of national policy, to restore and enhance the quality of the human environment and avoid or minimize any possible adverse effects of their actions upon the quality of the human environment.



Violation:  USEPA’s failure to review or comment on the AERA for completeness and accuracy with a “hard look” *, despite the Clean Air Act (CAA), Sec 309 requirement to do so, prejudiced the outcomes of the DEIS, SDEIS, and FEIS. “To correct another ambiguity of NEPA, Section 309 places the requirement to review EISs upon EPA because NEPA ‘does not assure that Federal environmental agencies will effectively participate in the decision-making process. It is essential that mission-oriented Federal agencies have access to environmental expertise in order to give adequate consideration to environmental factors.’ [(Sen. Rept. No. 91-1 196, 91st Cong., 2d Sess. 43, 1970)” USEPA Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance, July,1999.]   USEPA has jurisdiction by law and special expertise to credibly evaluate the AERA for completeness and accuracy. In fact, the USEPA is directed under section 309 of the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. 7609): to review and comment publicly on the environmental impacts of federal activities, including actions for which environmental impact statements are prepared.  If EPA had even attempted to perform a review they would have found only summaries and no final copy presented within the FEIS or its referenced documents, resulting the AREA being impossible to review.  Why did EPA look the other way on the AERA?

EPA's Section 309 Review:  The Clean Air Act and NEPA, Office of Federal Activities (2251A)

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: Clean Air Act (CAA), Sec 309; Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency is directed to review and comment on EISs.

40 CFR 1507.2 (c) Comment on statements in the areas where the agency has jurisdiction by law or special expertise.

40 CFR 1503.2 Duty to comment. Federal agencies with jurisdiction by law or special expertise with respect to any environmental impact involved and agencies which are authorized to develop and enforce environmental standards shall comment on statements within their jurisdiction, expertise, or authority.

NEPA Sec. 101 (b) 2,3., Federal agencies are responsible to assure use of resources without risk to health.

APA 5 U.S.C, 706(2)(a); Not legal do something that is Arbitrary, capricious, abuse of discretion, or not in accordance with law.

APA Sec. 10 (e); without observance of procedure by law, unsupported by substantial evidence. 

 



Violation:  Co-Leads violated NEPA procedures that require listing of the names and credentials of those who conducted the environmental review and supporting technical documents, including significant background papers with primary preparers, their qualifications (expertise, experience, professional disciplines). Current AERAs were written by a chemical engineer employed as a consultant by the project proposer, so they have no validity. Official government reports must be prepared by proven subject matter experts.  Chemical engineers are not toxicology or risk assessment subject matter experts needed to develop a major human health risk assessment for such a complex project.  In fact, should this be the case for any AERAs done during the EIS process, as appears to have happened. All AERAs are now invalid.  This, in turn, invalidates the EAW, scoping documents, EIS drafts, FEIS, and RODS.  Permitting is now illegal based on these failures.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: 

40 CFR 1502.6 EIS shall be prepared using an inter-disciplinary approach to insure integrated use of the natural and social sciences and the environmental design arts (section 102(2)(A) of the Act). The disciplines of the preparers shall be appropriate to the scope and issues identified in the scoping process (140 CFR 1500.1 (b) NEPA procedures must insure that environmental information is available to public officials and citizens before decisions are made and before actions are taken. The information must be of high quality. Accurate scientific analysis, expert agency comments, and public scrutiny are essential to implementing NEPA501.7).



Violation:  Co-Leads failed to assure all major report authors were included in the list of preparers. The omission of names and qualifications of the producers of major reports denies any reviewer and the public the ability to determine the qualification of the author to produce the AERA.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: APA Sec. 3 (c) matters of official record shall be available to persons concerned. 

40 CFR 1502.17 List names qualifications of primary preparers of EIS or significant background papers persons responsible for a particular analysis including analyses and background papers shall be identified…..”The environmental impact statement shall list the names, together with their qualifications (expertise, experience, professional disciplines), of the persons who were primarily responsible for preparing the environmental impact statement or significant background papers, including basic components of the statement (§§1502.6 and 1502.8). Where possible the persons who are responsible for a particular analysis, including analyses in background papers, shall be identified.

40 CFR 1500.1 (b) NEPA procedures must insure that environmental information is available to public officials and citizens before decisions are made and before actions are taken. The information must be of high quality. Accurate scientific analysis, expert agency comments, and public scrutiny are essential to implementing NEPA

40 CFR 1500.2(d), Agency must encourage and facilitate public involvement.



Violation: The Co-leads allowed the AERA, a state policy tool for state permitting, state EAW and state EIS, to influence the analyses and outcomes of the Federal/state EIS. “The FEIS indicates in Table 6.2.7-6 that cumulative noncancer risks do not exceed the threshold risk of 1, but simple addition indicates they do. By rounding values that exceed 1 to one significant digit, the FEIS declares a 20% exceedance of the recommended limit to be of no concern.” (Ipsen comment). This is a mathematical addition that is required to be recorded as an exceedance requiring action.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated:  40 CFR 1500.1 (b) insure that environmental information is available to public officials and citizens before decisions are made and before actions are taken. The information must be of high quality. Accurate scientific analysis, expert agency comments, and public scrutiny are essential to implementing NEPA.



Violation:  Co-Leads failed to review and identify the faults in the AERA.  Removing calculated risks from AERAs, or from any risk assessment for that matter, violates standard national and state risk assessment norms with the exception of the MPCA and MDNR for state EAW and MEPA projects.  NEPA does not allow such actions.  

Co-leads did not use all practicable means when they incorporated results of the less accurate AERA, that eliminates small risks that might incrementally become significant for a Minnesota precedent project, instead of the more accurate, available, EPA Human Health Risk Assessment procedures. This invalidates risk findings and conclusions and any decisions based on such.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: NEPA Sec. 101(b); assure for all Americans safe, healthful, productive, and aesthetically and culturally pleasing surroundings;

40 CFR 1500.1 (b), insure that environmental information is available to public officials and citizens before decisions are made and before actions are taken. The information must be of high quality. Accurate scientific analysis, expert agency comments, and public scrutiny are essential to implementing NEPA.



Violation: Co-leads USACE and USFS did not independently take a “hard look” * in evaluating the AERA to ensure that it met federal risk analysis requirements; they did not assure the full finalized and certified and final report was present in the FEIS or FEIS references.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: APA Sec. 3 (c); matters of official record shall be available to persons concerned.

40 CFR 1506.1 No action should be taken that might have an adverse environmental impact or limit the choice of reasonable alternatives.  

 40 CFR 1506.5 (c) Federal officials are responsible for independent evaluation, scope and content of the entire EIS.

 40 CFR 1502.1 Agencies are responsible for EIS full and fair discussion of impacts and  alternatives, concise, clear and to the point, supported by evidence that agencies made necessary analyses.

40 CFR 1502.24 Agencies shall insure the professional integrity, including scientific integrity.



Violation: The Co-leads approved the use of the AERA, which incorporated an emissions model for a combustion facility not supported by USEPA and was not designed for an open pit mine and processing plant (basically a rock crushing and smelting facility);

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: NEPA Sec. 101 (b) 2,3. Federal agencies are responsible to assure use of resources without risk to health.

40CFR 1501.2 (a), Federal agencies must use a systematic interdisciplinary approach to insure proper use of science.

- 40 CFR 1502.1, Federal officials are responsible for full and fair discussion impacts, concise clear and to the point supported by evidence that made necessary analyses of impacts and alternatives.

40 CFR 1502.2 (b); Impacts shall be discussed in proportion to their significance.



Violation: The FEIS contains only summary discussions of the AREA’s. The FEIS summary references only other unsigned, summaries. Final environmental impact statements require final certified risk analyses that meet both state and federal requirements.  While having no final signed report may meet state requirements, it does not meet federal requirements. The Co-Leads failed to produce a final AREA within or as an attachment to the FEIS. If the federal co-leads had attempted to review the AERA they would have found there was no final copy presented with the FEIS or its referenced documents. This violation precludes any person, including the federal co-leads and the public, from being able to review and comment the AERA. The AREA summaries lack support with substantial evidence, an action that is arbitrary, capricious, and abuse of discretion by the Co-Leads. MPCA has no basis to proceed with permitting.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: APA Sec. 7 (c) The record should be supported by substantial evidence.

APA 5 U.S.C, 706(2)(a); Not legal do something that is (a) Arbitrary, capricious, abuse of discretion not in accordance with law.

APA Sec. 3 (c) matters of official record shall be available to persons concerned.

40 CFR 1502.1 Agencies are responsible for EIS full and fair discussion of impacts and alternatives, concise, clear and to the point, supported by evidence that agencies made necessary analyses.  

40 CFR 1502.24 Agencies shall insure the professional integrity, including scientific integrity. 

40 CFR 1502.17; 40 CFR 1506.5 Federal officials are responsible for independent evaluation, scope and content of the entire EIS.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: NEPA 102(2)(D), Officials are responsible for independent evaluation.

40 CFR 1502.1 Agencies are responsible for EIS full and fair discussion of impacts and  alternatives, concise, clear and to the point, supported by evidence that agencies made necessary analyses.

40 CFR 1500.1 (b) NEPA procedures must insure that environmental information is available to public officials and citizens before decisions are made and before actions are taken. The information must be of high quality. Accurate scientific analysis, expert agency comments, and public scrutiny are essential to implementing NEPA.

40 CFR 1500.2(d), Agency must encourage and facilitate public involvement.



Violation:  The Co-Leads failed to protect workers on-site by allowing the FEIS to avoid measuring on-site worker human health risks.  They mislead the public when the FEIS used the MNSHA and OSHA laws and regulations as an excuse not to measure the risks to workers.  In fact it is the employer’s responsibility to measure risks and exposures of its workers and take appropriate preventive actions during design.  In addition, accurate projections can help medical professionals to evaluate worker patient illnesses.  Workers have a right to know the conditions under which they are working and what to expect.  The AERA addresses only a few of the risks that must be evaluated, so a full human health risk assessment including workers on-site is required to be conducted using USEPA HHRA protocols.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated:  40 CFR 1502.1 Agencies are responsible for EIS full and fair discussion of impacts and alternatives, concise, clear and to the point, supported by evidence that agencies made necessary analyses.

40 CFR 1500.1 (b), insure that environmental information is available to public officials and citizens before decisions are made and before actions are taken. The information must be of high quality. Accurate scientific analysis, expert agency comments, and public scrutiny are essential to implementing NEPA.



Violation:  Co-leads failed to include all cumulative effects of air emissions chemicals from nearby non-PolyMet sources.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated:  1508.25 Cumulative actions, which when viewed with other proposed actions have cumulatively significant impacts and should therefore be discussed in the same impact statement.

40CFR 1506.5 (c) Federal officials are responsible for independent evaluation, scope and content of the entire EIS.



Violation: Co-leads failed to make available a final signed AERA in the FEIS for public review. 

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: APA Sec 3 matters of official record shall be available to persons concerned.

1500.1 (b) public scrutiny is essential to implementing NEPA

40 CFR 1500.2(d); Agency must encourage and facilitate public involvement.

40 CFR 1506.6 public involvement is required.



Violation:  Co Leads failed to use the appropriate expertise to evaluate the AERAs.  The FEIS list of Federal Co-lead preparers demonstrates no federal individual within the list of preparers has toxicological or human health risk assessment expertise to critically review the AERA for technical accuracy and completeness. Lacking such expertise, the federal co-leads failed to obtain independent qualified person(s) to review the AREA with a “hard look*”. This fact resulted in the federal co-leads either totally abrogating their regulatory responsibly for a “hard look *” or allowing the state or proposer or their contractor to provide the critical review of the AERA. In either case, lacking a credible review, the federal co-leads’ FEIS conclusions are an arbitrary and capricious abuse of discretion. There is no credible basis about human health impacts to proceed with permitting.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: NEPA Sec. 101 (b) 2,3 Federal agencies are responsible to assure use of resources without risk to health.

NEPA 102(2)(D), federal officer has responsibility for scope, objectivity and content of the entire statement.

APA 5 U.S.C, 706(2)(a); Not legal do something that is (a) arbitrary, capricious, and abuse of discretion, or not in accordance with law.

40 CFR 1502.1 Federal officials are responsible for full and fair discussion impacts, concise clear and to the point supported by evidence that they made necessary analyses of impacts and alternatives.

40 CFR 1507.2 Agencies shall be capable of complying or have capability of evaluating of what others do for it. Agencies must substantiate any analysis fundamental to the EIS.

40 CFR 1506.5 (a) Agency Responsibilities: When an agency asks an applicant to submit environmental information, it shall

- Independently evaluate the information submitted;

- Be responsible for its accuracy;

- In the EIS provide the names of the persons responsible for the independent evaluation in the list of preparers;

- Work needs to be verified, not redone.



Violation:  Co-Leads failed to assure human health impacts to seasonal residents were completely and accurately addressed in the AERAs.  The AERAs discuss the mineral districts’ boundaries for residential and farmer exposures, but do not acknowledge the many private wells north of the plant site or in other areas that indicate at least seasonal users.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: 40 CFR 1502.1 Agencies are responsible for EIS full and fair discussion of impacts and  alternatives, concise, clear and to the point, supported by evidence that agencies made necessary analyses.

40 CFR 1500.1 (b), insure that environmental information is available to public officials and citizens before decisions are made and before actions are taken. The information must be of high quality. Accurate scientific analysis, expert agency comments, and public scrutiny are essential to implementing NEPA.



Violation: Co-Leads failed to assure human health impacts were completely and accurately addressed.  Lacking full federally-required complete protocol HHRA and ERA, no definitive risk estimates are available and no conclusions can be made about risks.  USACE’s criminal activity under UCMJ had its officials sign off on a document lacking any supporting final certified documentation showing acceptable risks via direct and indirect releases of all reasonable contaminants to air, water and soil.  It is an illegal fiction to make any such legal assertions that such information is known.  If known, it was not shared with the public.  Another crime under UCMJ based on NEPA requirements and military regulations.

MDNR, USACE and USFS did not support the EIS with evidence the agencies made the necessary analyses for the AERA, which is only a summary, however a review of the AERA process indicates this analysis would still be insufficient.  

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: APA, Sec.10(e); 

40 CFR 1502.1  Agencies are responsible for EIS full and fair discussion of impacts and  alternatives, concise, clear and to the point, supported by evidence that agencies made necessary analyses.

40 CFR 1500.2 (f)  Policy. Federal agencies shall to the fullest extent possible: …(f) Use all practicable means, consistent with the requirements of the Act and other essential considerations of national policy, to restore and enhance the quality of the human environment and avoid or minimize any possible adverse effects of their actions upon the quality of the human environment.



[bookmark: _GoBack]Violation:  Co-Leads failed to assure that all practicable means were used to identify all chemicals that could have human and ecological impacts, to then subsequently analyze for importance, synergy, and cumulative calculations, exposure in all media to end points.  No verified and credible list of known or expected chemicals, materials, or substances, e.g. chemicals of potential concern**, was created for the proposal from past brownfield activities, current activities or future activities, making any engineering or risk reports fiction. The AERA limits chemicals of potential concern to a list of chemicals developed only by the Minnesota Department of Health (MDH). This exclusive list eliminates chemicals listed in numerous federal and international data bases that are generally accepted in the scientific community for human health risk assessments. The Co-Leads did not insure that all blasting, flotation, and separation agents and all geological chemicals (chemicals derived from the rock geology) were included in the human health and ecological analyses, and did not observe the procedure for incomplete information; consequentially, appropriate mitigation and alternatives could not be identified and considered with feasibility and cost.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: APA Sec. 3 (c) matters of official record shall be available to persons concerned.

NEPA Sec. 101 (b) 2,3., Federal agencies are responsible to assure use of resources without risk to health.

40CFR 1501.2 (a), Federal agencies must use a systematic interdisciplinary approach to insure proper use of science.

40 CFR 1502.24 Agencies shall insure the professional integrity, including scientific integrity.

40 CFR 1506.5 Federal officials are responsible for independent evaluation, scope and content of the entire EIS under NEPA;

40 CFR 1507.2 (b)  Identify methods and procedures required by section 102 (2) (B) to insure that presently unquantified environmental amenities and values may be given appropriate consideration.  Understanding that this regulation was promulgated in 1970 and 1977, and NEPA was last amended in 1982, USEPA subsequently produced and is continuing to produce methods to fulfill this regulation; these methods now include the USEPA human health and ecological risk assessment protocols to evaluate impacts based on research methods generally accepted in the scientific community.

40 CFR 1502.22 Incomplete or unavailable information procedures.



Violation: The Co-Leads failed to produce a final AREA within or as an attachment to the FEIS. With only a few technical reports marked final, signed by proven subject matter experts, and included in the FEIS, and many unsigned reports, signing of the FEIS is not appropriate.  The AERA is a significant background paper to assess potential human health impacts.  If the federal co-leads had attempted to review the AERA they would have found there was no final copy presented with the FEIS or its referenced documents. This violation precludes any person, including the federal co-leads and the public, from being able to review and comment on the AERA. The AREA summaries lack support with substantial evidence, yet the FEIS minimizes human health impacts, being an arbitrary, capricious abuse of discretion by the Co-Leads. Under the UCMJ, signature of the FEIS under these conditions is a crime since all infractions of regulations under the UCMJ are crimes.  USACE personnel must also meet all local laws, rules and regulations.  These two were violated when an incomplete and inaccurate FEIS was signed by USACE, another crime.

MDNR, USACE and USFS did not include the signed full AERA report in any EIS version. 

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: APA Sec. 3 (c); matters of official record shall be available to persons concerned.

APA 5 U.S.C, 706(2)(a); Not legal do something that is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or not in accordance with law.

APA Sec. 7 (c) The record should be supported by substantial evidence.

40 CFR 1500.1 (b) NEPA procedures must insure that environmental information is available to public officials and citizens before decisions are made and before actions are taken. The information must be of high quality. Accurate scientific analysis, expert agency comments, and public scrutiny are essential to implementing NEPA.

40 CFR 1500.1 (b)  The information must be of high quality with accurate scientific analysis.

40 CFR 1500.2(d)  Agency must encourage and facilitate public involvement.





HUMAN HEALTH



Violation:  The Co-leads improperly used the arsenic Maximum Concentration Level (MCL) of 10 ug/l as a ground water evaluation criterion to indicate acceptable risk at NorthMet. In doing so, Co-Leads violated 40 CFR 141.11, “The maximum contaminant level for arsenic applies only to community water systems.”  The reason for this regulation is that it would be too easy to minimize the potential dangers associated with arsenic. The regulatory arsenic risk level is the MCL Goal of 0.0 (zero) - there is no safe level of arsenic. 

It is unlikely these violations arise out of violation of 40 CFR 1507.2 Agency capability to comply.  All of the people involved in evaluation criteria selection, MDNR, USACE, USFS, ERM, and PolyMet’s advocate Barr, excluding the Tribes who were forbidden to participate in that group, ignored MDH and private party comments requesting evaluation criteria that reflected actual risk numbers pursuant to current science and the lowest statutory protective requirements, which for ground water is zero pollution by state statute.

Law/ Regulation /Policy violated: 40 CFR 141, 141.11; arsenic MCL, MCLG promulgated..

Minn. Stat. 7060.0600 Subp. 2. Ground water pollution is not allowed except by variance.

Minn. Stat. Ch. 116D.03, Subd. 2 utilize a systematic, interdisciplinary approach, consultation with persons in appropriate fields of specialization to ensure the latest and most authoritative findings.



Violation:  The Co-Leads failed to identify appropriate risk-based numbers for all evaluation criteria using the MCL as the origin. 

Law/ Regulation /Policy violated: applicable promulgating regulations for the MCLs.



Violation: The inappropriate use of the ground water and surface water evaluation criteria results in deceiving the public and FEIS and subsequent decision-makers into thinking these numbers reflect health risk levels and that it is acceptable to pollute up to the MCL or other standards or health-based numbers;  therefore the Co-leads violated 40 CFR 1502.24 that calls for professional and scientific integrity.

Law/ Regulation /Policy violated:  APA Sec. 10 Agency action, findings, and conclusions are unlawful when found to be arbitrary, capricious, and abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law; without observance of procedure required by law; unsupported by substantial evidence, and other conditions.

40 CFR 141, 141.11  promulgated arsenic MCL, MCLG.

7060.0600 Subp. 2 No pollution in the ground water is allowed without a variance.  

40 CFR 1502.24 Agencies shall insure the professional integrity, including scientific integrity.

Minn. Stat. Ch. 116D.03, Subd. 2 utilize a systematic, interdisciplinary approach, consultation with persons in appropriate fields of specialization to ensure the latest and most authoritative findings.



Violation: The Co-Leads failed to insure scientific accuracy when they allowed the limited capability of the AERA to be used in the 2005 Environmental Assessment Worksheet without including the full analysis, and allowed the EAW to state without evidence that the air toxics impacts “do not have the potential for significant environmental or health effects.”

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: APA Sec 10 (e); Agency action, findings, and conclusions are unlawful when found to be arbitrary, capricious, and abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law; without observance of procedure required by law; unsupported by substantial evidence, and other conditions.;

40 CFR 1500.1 (b)  The information must be of high quality with accurate scientific analysis.

40 CFR 1502.24  Agencies shall insure the professional integrity, including scientific integrity. 

40 CFR 1506.5 (a)(c)  Agencies and federal officials are responsible for independent evaluation, scope and content of the EAW and entire EIS respectively.

Minn. Stat. Ch. 116D.03, Subd. 2 utilize a systematic, interdisciplinary approach, consultation with persons in appropriate fields of specialization to ensure the latest and most authoritative findings.



Violation: MDNR, USACE and USFS failed to determine the risk to health in all media (surface water, ground water, soils, sediments) by the use of available standard human health assessment tools, and in so failing did not enable actions that protect, restore, and enhance the environment. 

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: 1500.1 actions that protect, restore, and enhance the environment must be enabled by the NEPA process.

Minn. Stat. Ch. 116D.03, Subd. 2 utilize a systematic, interdisciplinary approach, consultation with persons in appropriate fields of specialization to ensure the latest and most authoritative findings.



Violation: Co-Leads did not scope in a requirement for technical analysis of all reasonable releases, direct and indirect, to water for the project, making any and all risk assertions about water contamination and health risks invalid.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: 40 CFR 1502.24  Agencies shall insure the professional integrity, including scientific integrity. 

40 CFR 1506.5 (a)(c) Agencies and federal officials are responsible for independent evaluation, scope and content of the EAW and entire EIS respectively.



Violation: The MPCA failed to demonstrate in the FEIS that its AERA and other analyses adequately define air impacts, just as MDNR has failed to demonstrate that the Water Appropriations permits on which the Permit to Mine depends is protective of human health as demonstrated by the faults in the FEIS caused by Co-Leads’ violations. Detailed violations follow.

Therefore, the permit cannot be issued.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated:  Minn. Stat. 103G.297(2).

NEPA Sec. 101 (b) The policy is created to “fulfill the responsibilities of each generation as trustee of the environment for succeeding generations; assure for all Americans safe, healthful, productive, and aesthetically and culturally pleasing surroundings; attain the widest range of beneficial uses of the environment without degradation, risk to health or safety, or other undesirable and unintended consequences;” and other objectives.

40 CFR 1502.24  Agencies shall insure the professional integrity, including scientific integrity.

40 CFR 1502.22(b), Risk Assessment Guidance for Superfund, EPA/540//R-95/132, 1989; Framework for Metals Risk Assessment, EPA 120/R-07/001, March 2007; Background for NEPA Reviewers: Non-Coal Mining Operations, EPA/530/R-95/043, Dec. 1994; EIA Guidelines for Mining Environmental Impact Assessment Guidelines for NE Source NPDES Permits Ore Mining and Dressing, EPA 315R94 001x, Sept. 1994; Appendix B Potential Environmental Impacts of Hardrock Mining US EPA’s Hardrock Mining Framework, EPA-833-B-97-003, on line. 



Violation:  DNR, USACE and USFS failed to require current science with cumulative capability for human health impacts analysis using the proper scientific tools called human health risk assessment and ecological risk assessment guidance available from USEPA since 1989.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: 40 CFR 1501.2(a); Federal agencies must use a systematic interdisciplinary approach to insure proper use of science.

40 CFR 1502.6, using an inter-disciplinary approach, Risk Assessment Guidance for Superfund, EPA/540//R-95/132, 1989; Framework for Metals Risk Assessment, EPA 120/R-07/001, March 2007; Background for NEPA Reviewers: Non-Coal Mining Operations, EPA/530/R-95/043, Dec. 1994; EIA Guidelines for Mining Environmental Impact Assessment Guidelines for NE Source NPDES Permits Ore Mining and Dressing, EPA 315R94 001x, Sept. 1994; Appendix B Potential Environmental Impacts of Hardrock Mining US EPA’s Hardrock Mining Framework, EPA-833-B-97-003, on line.

Minn. Stat. Ch. 116D.03 Subd 2 (2) Utilize a systematic, interdisciplinary approach that will insure the integrated use of the natural and social sciences and the environmental arts in planning and in decision making which may have an impact on the environment; … consultation with persons in appropriate fields of specialization to ensure that the latest and most authoritative findings in administrative decision making as quickly and as amply as possible.



Violation: Cumulative health risks cannot be performed for property not owned by a project proposer because definitive access and boundaries are necessary for modeling.   All this air emissions work is fiction until such time as final ownership of surface rights to the mine site are obtained from USFS.  Therefore, permitting is not permitted or valid and should stop.

According to USEPA staff, to apply for a permit and do modeling, the proposer must or own or lease the surface to be able to plan facilities exactly.

According to USEPA staff, a proposer cannot do modeling if the boundary is not known.

USEPA has no guidance on modeling for a project where land is not owned or leased, with no identifiable boundary.

In summary, EPA staff confirm that modeling of any type and permit modeling is not allowed in proposals until such time as the land surface and subsurface access is owned or leased.  



Violation: Agencies did not assure they had capability to comply with this major complex EIS in a systematic interdisciplinary approach by employing or contracting for a toxicologist or risk assessment specialist with the necessary experience who would address all contaminants in all media in cumulative aspects of a human health risk assessment.

Law/Regulation /Policy/Violated:  40 CFR 1501.2  Federal agencies must use a systematic interdisciplinary approach to insure proper use of science.

40 CFR 1502.6; using an inter-disciplinary approach, disciplines of the preparers shall be appropriate to the scope.

40 CFR 1507.2  Each agency shall be capable (in terms of personnel and other resources) of complying with the requirements enumerated below. Such compliance may include use of other’s resources, but the using agency shall itself have sufficient capability to evaluate what others do for it, as further specified in the regulation.

Minn. Stat. Ch. 116D.03 Subd 2 (2) Utilize a systematic, interdisciplinary approach that will insure the integrated use of the natural and social sciences and the environmental arts in planning and in decision making which may have an impact on the environment; … consultation with persons in appropriate fields of specialization to ensure that the latest and most authoritative findings in administrative decision making as quickly and as amply as possible.



Violation:  EPA failed use its expertise to ensure that agencies fully analyze environmental effects on minority communities, including human health. 

Law/Regulation /Policy/Violated:  Clean Air Act Section 309, Presidential Memorandum that accompanied Executive Order 12898; Final Guidance For Incorporating Environmental Justice Concerns in EPA's NEPA Compliance Analyses, April 1998;

40 CFR 1507.2 (c)  comment on statements in the areas where the agency has jurisdiction by law or special expertise.



Violation:  The Co-Leads failed to produce final HHRAs, ERAs, or final certified AERAs as the basis for the FEIS acceptance as required by federal laws, rules and regulations when federal agencies determine that risk assessment will be used as the basis for informed decision-making.  Lacking required full HHRA and ERA written by proven subject matter experts and verified by independent, third party peer reviewers, the federal requirements for accurate scientific analysis has not been met.  This fact invalidates the FEIS. 

Law/Regulation /Policy/Violated:  40 CFR 1500.1  Accurate scientific analysis is required.



Violation:  Co-Leads failed to utilize public scrutiny with scientific expertise and suggestions to make the EIS a high-quality document, evidenced by the brushoff that many substantial comments received in responses that told the commenters where the subject was discussed, but no changes were made.

Law/Regulation /Policy/Violated:  40 CFR 1500.1  Accurate scientific analysis, expert agency comments, and public scrutiny are essential to implementing NEPA.

Minn. Stat. Ch. 116D.03 Subd 2 (2) Utilize a systematic, interdisciplinary approach that will insure the integrated use of the natural and social sciences and the environmental arts in planning and in decision making which may have an impact on the environment; … consultation with persons in appropriate fields of specialization to ensure that the latest and most authoritative findings in administrative decision making as quickly and as amply as possible.





FATALLY FLAWED FEIS



Procedural and technical errors in scoping invalidate all subsequent steps in the environmental review process for the NorthMet project. Scoping defines the FEIS.  FEIS informs the RODs.  RODs allow permitting.  Permitting can only occur when all previous procedural and technical requirements are met.  These comments, previous comments of these authors, and other public comments all demonstrate that at least one major procedural and/or technical requirement has been missed, performed in error, omitted, is incomplete, inaccurate, misleading, misinforming, or otherwise has not met federal and state requirements.  The three Co-Lead Agencies signed off on this fatally flawed FEIS missing critical technical documents. Specifically, to point out just one example, no final certified AERA was provided through scoping or made available as text or an attachment to the FEIS, or made readily available during the public and agency review processes.

1. The Co-Leads deceived the public into thinking the FEIS (and earlier versions) documentation reports for conclusions were final.  This constitutes fraud and violates both NEPA and the APA as well as civil and criminal statutes at the state and federal level.

2.  The FEIS is fatally flawed because Co-Leads did not demonstrate that key documents used to establish the basis for acceptability, accuracy and completeness, especially those authored by Barr and PolyMet (FEIS Reference Disks 1 and 2), were not labeled Final, were not signed, are not provable as Final, were not proven to have been written by required subject matter experts, were not provided in final (e.g., final certified AERAs), and in fact were revised again subsequent to the FEIS in preparation for permitting. 

3.  The Co-Leads’ work alleged to identify human health impacts. This intentionally misleads the public, and possibly the project proponent, constituting waste, fraud and abuse and potentially deserving of administrative, civil and criminal penalties against those involved. The agencies work addressed nothing but discussions of a few chemicals of concern and an “air emissions risk assessment” riddled with faults. The AERA systematically removed chemicals that should have been of public health concern, including chemicals for which a risk number had been calculated. To use a distorted analysis a risk assessment, screening or not, purposely misstates the nature of the work.  It intentionally limits the scope of the analysis, artificially lowering the risks posed to acceptable levels.  Use of appropriate EPA protocols in the first place would have remedied the project’s risk errors and omissions by use of a complete analysis.  

4.  Similarly, the Co-Leads and EPA ignored EPA protocols for conducting a thorough and defensible ecological assessment in favor of discussing a few species and wetlands of concern, whereas ecological impairment will affect hundreds of miles of land and wetlands and hundreds of miles of waterways already impacted by mining.  

5. As a result the full range of human and ecological impacts from the proposed facility is unknown, so mitigation is only a guess.  Thus, no Co-lead has a legal basis for its determination of adequacy, and thus, any record of decision is invalid because the FEIS on which it is based is incomplete, inaccurate, capricious and arbitrary, and no permit can be issued. 

6.  Co-leads having opened the door for formal risk analysis as the basis for finding the FEIS adequate and complete, were required to follow all federal and state risk assessment production, reporting and independent peer review requirements found in such documents because USACE risk assessment manuals that for military components are legal requirements, not suggestions.  Not following such requirements, under the UCMJ, are criminal acts.  

7.  USEPA’s Human Health Risk Assessment (HHRA) and Ecological Risk Assessment (ERA) requirements were not followed.  

8.  USFS/USDA CERCLA, RCRA, AND NEPA risk assessment practices and requirements were not followed, another federal violation.  

9.   The Administrative Procedures Act was not followed.  

10.  Executive orders were ignored.  

11.  As a result, federal signing of the FEIS was an illegal act considering that the FEIS was signed based on a risk summary with no legal basis, which would be a final certified AERA complete with calculations.  

12.  Signing this FEIS is a state and federal crime. 





VIOLATIONS



Violation: Co-Lead decisions and permitting based on the FEIS, its findings, and conclusions must be held unlawful and set aside because the FEIS is not in accordance with law due to the many significant violations of APA, NEPA, Clean Air Act (CAA), Council on Environmental Quality (CEQ) Code of Federal Regulations (CFR), and other laws, regulations and policies described below.

Therefore, the permits cannot be issued. EAW, EIS, FEIS, and ROD deficiencies must be remedied before permitting can continue. 





RECURRING ASSUMPTION 



1. PolyMet’s NorthMet proposal scoping acknowledged that human health risk analysis was needed to inform the FEIS when it used the plant site Air Emissions Risk Assessment (AERA) summary in the scoping Environmental Assessment Worksheet.  

2.  No mining site AERA or any other risk analysis was performed or provided to the public or co-leads for review and publication.  

3.  Air risk analyses use surface boundaries in their calculations - but there are no definitive boundaries to the mine site then or now.  

4.  Given the lack of all attributes legally necessary to have a project or to establish legally binding boundary related modeling, all assessment and modeling to date is based on what the proposer wants -  but does not have: 

 “5.2.2  Receptor Grid and Ambient Air Boundary. The ambient air boundaries for the Plant Site and Mine Site (Appendix Q) are based on land expected to be owned or controlled by PolyMet at the commencement of operations.” Application for a Permit to Construct and Operate v1 AUG2016-1, p. 37. 

Operations by the way is 18 months after construction begins (FEIS, p. ES-17).

5. Every EIS report based on non-owned non-leased land is incomplete and inaccurate based on the EPA definition of accuracy and completeness, and violates 40 CFR 1501 (b) accurate scientific analyses required, and 40 CFR 1502.24 Methodology and scientific accuracy: Agencies shall insure professional integrity, including scientific integrity of discussions and analyses.

6.  Fictional and irrelevant modeling is now the basis for permitting the project. 

7.  According to USEPA staff, a proposer cannot do modeling if the boundary is not known.

8.  According to USEPA staff, to apply for a permit and do modeling, the proposer must or own or lease the surface to be able to plan facilities exactly.

9.  USEPA has no guidance on modeling for a project where land is not owned or leased, with no identifiable boundary.

10. In summary, EPA staff confirm that modeling of any type and permit modeling is not allowed in proposals until such time as the land surface and subsurface access is owned or leased.  

11. PolyMet never met these conditions from the first day it worked on permits and the EIS.  

12.  Therefore, the EAW, EIS, FEIS and permits work is invalid because it did not meet EPA requirements. 

13.  Yet MPCA appears willing and ready to actually issue an Air Permit based on an assumption that PolyMet will own or lease the mine surface by “commencement of operations”. 

14.  The repeated assumption of future surface control from the beginning in the EIS process is tantamount to predetermination of the desired outcome by PolyMet, MDNR and MPCA.  



Overall, the air permit shall not be granted because the underlying basis for the air permit, the FEIS, has not met procedural and technical requirements, and, as noted in innumerable citizen comments most of which were ignored by co-lead agencies, is incomplete, inaccurate, and lacks integrity including scientific integrity. The FEIS is based on missing final certified risk analyses, missing final certified engineering analyses, missing proven expertise of subject matter authors, and missing surface lease or ownership rights with definitive boundaries for the proposed mine site.  Agencies cannot permit a facility for which the project proponent lacks ownership, according to USEPA. In Minnesota, no right to surface access is obtained from the mining lease, particularly for land owned by the USFS under the 1911 Weeks Act.





SCOPING



Violation:  Either MDNR violated MEPA’s definition of project vs plan when it proceeded with the PolyMet NorthMet proposal EAW, or PolyMet violated it when it submitted the EAW information form for an EAW and did not specify that it did not own or control the surface rights to the mine, even if it thought that it had control through the lease which specified condemnation proceedings are available to it.  MPCA also should not have acted on the AERA submitted to it in February and May 2005 for the same reason.  Minnesotans for Responsible Recreation v. Dep't of Natural Res., 651 N.W.2d 533, 538 (Minn.App.2002) decided that the 116 C Subd. 7. Project definition was valid in requiring an activity “fixed in location.”  The 2013 appeals court decision, IN RE ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT WORKSHEET, 838 NW 2d 212 (2013),  reaffirmed the 2002 definition deciding a Minnesota mine lease with no surface access is a plan, not a project qualified for an EIS. [The 2013 decision stated “{a} lease, without more, does not constitute a project triggering environmental-review requirements.”  Furthermore, under this decision, “The government's obligation to conduct environmental review under the MEPA is tied to the environmental changes that are contemplated by the government's action. Thus, the proper focus is not on what activity might be allowed to take place under the mineral leases, but on what activity is actually planned. As discussed above, there are no definite, site-specific environmental changes contemplated by the mineral leases. Rather, the leases transfer only the right to explore for and mine minerals from the state to the lessees, and future exploration and mining activities remain subject to the MEPA and the rules governing environmental review. Thus, we reject the analysis of the cited cases, which would have the effect of requiring the DNR to conduct environmental review with respect to all parcels offered for lease—including those for which no bid was ultimately received—and to assume that the most extensive and invasive possible exploration activities would be undertaken on those parcels, even though past experience with mineral leases in this state suggests otherwise.”]

Rules governing environmental review at the onset of the NorthMet project required more than a lease to constitute a project worthy of proceeding.  The physical act of USFS-approved exploratory drilling does not constitute “more than a lease” because it does not provide surface access for mining and definition of boundaries.



PolyMet submitted its AERA to MPCA AQ in February 2005. According to the EQB process, calculating back from the known public comment period end date, PolyMet submitted its EAW form information to DNR in late February. Item 5 of the scoping EAW is the project location – the mining area is identified as “Parts of Sections 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, and 12, Township 59 North, Range 13 West” but there is no clarification that surface access is not yet in place.  In the EAW Project Overview PolyMet admits the proposal is “a plan that will be modified as information from various studies is developed during the EIS.”  At the point of reviewing PolyMet’s EAW Information, MDNR failed to evaluate whether the NorthMet proposal was ready for a scoping EAW.



Pursuant to Minnesotans for Responsible Recreation v. Dep't of Natural Res., 651 N.W.2d 533, 538 (Minn.App.2002), in which MDNR was the defendant, MDNR should have found that PolyMet did not yet have surface rights, had no definite site-specific location for the mine site (a connected action), and had no agreement with the USFS on a defined boundary (which is still undefined and continually changing throughout the life of the environmental review). 



So we now have a FEIS and 10 years of work by agency staff and contractors on a proposal that was not yet qualified for the EIS and, having no agreement with USFS, still is not qualified in March 2018!  Thus, the FEIS can no longer stand as the basis for permitting. If it is used in this manner, it faces successful court challenges.



The project proposer, contractor, state or federal government, alone or working together, did the impossible.  It is impossible to have an EAW, EIS, or permitting for a proposal for which the proposer does not own the property, have full access to the property, or any chance of receiving the property at the time of proposal submission.  The proposal submission has never been made publicly available, another violation of law and rule.  So, the master application, written application, meeting in person application, or any other application made to the agencies by the project proposer and contractor was either misleading, incorrect, in error, false or otherwise fatally flawed in order for agencies to believe that a project without a connected action was possible.  The public cannot tell what happened because, based on another MEPA/NEPA legal violation, this documentation has never been made available to the public.  Should the project proposer or contractor written or oral representations have been fully correct, then the state and federal governments made fatal errors in not first completing the land transfer prior to performing an EIS on the mining project en toto.  These errors, omissions, etc. rise to illegality resulting in permitting cessation until such time as the errors are fixed going all the way back to pre-scoping.



Violation:  During Supplementary Draft EIS scoping and planning meetings, Co-Leads assigned project proposer and its contractor equal status and/or leadership status in determining how the project proposer and contractor would meet regulatory requirements. Federal attorneys advise that federal personnel should not have attended such meetings.  Doing so is an unethical action by government staff whose rules require segregation of regulated parties and their contractors from meetings where regulated parties could influence, lead, or develop regulatory requirements for themselves.



1. During scoping and planning, Co-Leads apparently made careful choice of an EIS preparation contractor with a disclosure denying conflict of interest. 

2. Despite this, Co-Leads committed actions that violate conflict of interest rules, specifically, the participation, influence and/or leadership of the project proposer and its consultant in meetings.  

3. The Core Group decided what issues to ‘send up’ to the decision group. The Co-Leads enlisted Barr and PolyMet representation on every Core group. PolyMet’s representation caused undue influence where agency independence is mandated. 

4. Major federal action requires there be no financial or other conflict of interest in the FEIS development and decision-making.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated:  40 CFR 1506.5 (b) Contractor who prepares EIS is chosen in a manner to avoid any conflict of interest, must disclose no financial or other interest in the outcome of the project.

40 CFR 1506.5 Agency or official shall independently evaluate the information submitted by the proposer, work done by the contractor, and the EIS and shall take responsibility for its scope and contents.



Violation:  The Co-Leads violated NEPA by not using all practicable means consistent with national policy, including following all NEPA requirements laid out in federal laws, rules, regulations, guidance and guidelines.  In fact, federal agencies appear to have completely deferred to state agency’s lower performance standards without comment. In the scoping Minnesota Environmental Assessment Work Sheet (EAW) federally known as an Environmental Assessment (EA), the Co-leads adopted a summary of the MPCA air permit screening tool Air Emissions Risk Assessment (AERA). Although the MPCA’s AERA method is used for state permits and state EAW/ EIS scoping, the AERA method falls far short of the technical quality mandated by federal risk protocols.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated:  NEPA Section 101(b). Use all practicable means consistent with national policy to assure for all Americans, safe, healthful surroundings.

40 CFR 1500.1 (b)  The information must be of high quality with accurate scientific analysis.

Minn. Stat 116D.02  “use all practicable means and measures, including financial and technical assistance, in a manner calculated to foster and promote the general welfare, to create and maintain conditions under which human beings and nature can exist in productive harmony, and fulfill the social, economic, and other requirements of present and future generations of the state's people.”



Violation:  NEPA and MEPA, public processes, were not treated as such resulting in public documents (e.g. all AERAs) being held as private documents and meeting notes during scoping not being shared with the public. The first February 2005 AERA submitted to MPCA in February 2005 was not referenced in the Scoping EAW and was not made available to the public.  How this affected the scoping process is unknown. The May 2005 AERA, not made available to the public, clearly influenced scoping; the scoping EAW included the (plant site) AERA summary and statement: “ impacts associated with air emissions, that are reasonably expected to occur from this project, do not have the potential for significant environmental or health effects.”  Scoping was indirectly influenced to an unknown degree by the lack of a mine site AERA. Air only evaluations cannot inform about ground water, surface water, soil, wetland, and sediment releases and their risks. All these actions violate standard risk assessment norms practiced by almost every federal and state agency in the nation.  The Co-Leads allowed the Scoping Decision Document to declare some documents that the EIS will use would be prepared outside of the EIS but say they will be used in the EIS; clearly avoiding public review of a document on which the EIS depends.  These “some documents” included the AERA that was part of the permitting process and should not have been part of the EIS because it does not use full federal protocols to demonstrate acceptable human and ecological health impacts and because its conclusions affected the outcome of the EIS.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated:  APA Sec. 3 Public Information, fact not in record. 

NEPA Section 101(b). Use all practicable means consistent with national policy to assure for all Americans, safe, healthful surroundings.

Minn. Stat Ch. 116D.02 “use all practicable means and measures, including financial and technical assistance, in a manner calculated to foster and promote the general welfare, to create and maintain conditions under which human beings and nature can exist in productive harmony, and fulfill the social, economic, and other requirements of present and future generations of the state's people.”

40 CFR 1500.2(d)  Agency must encourage and facilitate public involvement.



Violation: The Co-Leads failed to object in writing to or otherwise reject the unsupported AERA permitting conclusion of no “potential for significant environmental or health effects” stated in the EAW that truncated further appropriate studies and prejudiced the scoping process away from methods generally accepted by the scientific community for performing a thorough scientific human health risk assessment that complies with US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) guidance so that all significant adverse environmental impacts are identified and included in appropriate calculations, enabling appropriate alternatives and mitigations. Without this EPA protocol for human health and ecological risk assessments in all media, in a project that is unique to a state and its unique geology, the identification of chemicals, via the AERA and discussions of a few selected chemicals of concern, is only a guess -  and not systematic science. 

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated:  CEQ 40 questions, Q. 9. Coordination among agencies with early permit actions and early submittal of permit and approval applications is encouraged by NEPA ”to ensure early and comprehensive analysis of direct and indirect effects of the proposal and related actions… so that all relevant agencies can work together on the scoping process and preparation of the EIS.”  Permitting is to be based on the FEIS - the permit agency is encouraged to request that the scoping and EIS contain information that it needs, but the FEIS must not be limited by permit or other actions which would 

	1) have an adverse environmental impact – here, significant impacts are at risk of not being identified, or

	2) limit the choice of reasonable alternatives – here, if the screening AERA conclusion is wrong, it puts the facility at risk of inadequate or inappropriate air quality alternatives and mitigations.

The problem with the AERA conclusion of no “potential for significant environmental or health effects”  is that significant impacts may exist that the AERA does not identify, due to its inappropriate screening methods for this type of project, in air and other media, and due to its preparation by preparer(s) who were not expert in risk assessment required by the CFR. A Chinese wall is required between permitting and the EIS process. The process allows sharing of information. It prohibits influence on EIS decision-making as seen throughout the NorthMet EIS process.  

Other reasons why the AERA is inadequate are discussed in the AERA section.

In summary, federal agencies did not act in accordance with their own legal, scientific, or ethical requirements from pre-scoping to FEIS signature.  State officials, having decided to use risk assessment as the basis for FEIS adequacy decisions, violated their own statutes and guidance documents.  All these facts form the basis for procedural and technical errors, omissions, and illegalities that form sufficient basis to reject the FEIS and all associated actions.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: APA Sec. 2 (g) “Agency action" includes failure to act.

APA Sec. 7 (c)  Agencies must have reliable, probative, and substantial evidence.

40 CFR 1502.1 Agencies are responsible for EIS full and fair discussion of impacts and alternatives, concise, clear and to the point, supported by evidence that agencies made necessary analyses.

40 CFR 1502.24  Agencies shall insure professional integrity and scientific accuracy.

40 CFR 1502.2 (f) Agencies shall not commit resources prejudicing selection of alternatives before making a final decision (§1506.1).

40 CFR 1502.22 (b) use methods generally accepted in the scientific community.

40 CFR 1502.24, Agencies shall insure professional integrity including scientific integrity.

40 CFR 1506.1 Until an agency issues a record of decision, no action (e.g. permitting – 40 CFR 1508.18 (b)(4)) concerning the proposal shall be taken which would: (1) Have an adverse environmental impact; or (2) Limit the choice of reasonable alternatives.

40 CFR 1506.5 (c), Federal officials are responsible for independent evaluation, scope and content of the entire EIS.

Minn. Stat. 116D.03 Subd. 2 (2) Systematic interdisciplinary approach, consultation with persons in appropriate fields of specialization.



Violation: The AERA, a voluntary action apparently prepared by non-subject matter experts, was never intended to be finalized or certified during the EIS, because the AERA is a state permitting tool.  Taking permitting actions within a federal EIS is federally illegal.  Illegal activities in an EIS process terminate the legality of the FEIS and all associated actions.

Laws violated: 40 CFR 1502.6, using an inter-disciplinary approach, disciplines of the preparers shall be appropriate to the scope.

40 CFR 1502.1 Agencies are responsible for EIS full and fair discussion of impacts and  alternatives, concise, clear and to the point, supported by evidence that agencies made necessary analyses.

40 CFR 1502.24, Agencies shall insure professional integrity and scientific accuracy.

40 CFR 1502.2 (f) Agencies shall not commit resources prejudicing selection of alternatives before making a final decision (§1506.1).

40 CFR 1502.22 (b) use methods generally accepted in the scientific community.

40 CFR 1502.24, Agencies shall insure professional integrity including scientific integrity.

40 CFR 1506.1 Until an agency issues a record of decision, no action (e.g. permitting – 40 CFR 1508.18 (b)(4))  concerning the proposal shall be taken which would: (1) Have an adverse environmental impact; or (2) Limit the choice of reasonable alternatives.

40 CFR 1506.5 (c), Federal officials are responsible for independent evaluation, scope and content of the entire EIS.

Minn. Stat. 116D.03 Subd. 2 (2) Systematic interdisciplinary approach, consultation with persons in appropriate fields of specialization.



Violation:  During the scoping for the SDEIS, the Co-leads again failed to stop the use of a permitting action - the AERA development - outside the EIS, prejudicing focus away from needed full risk assessment. 

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: APA Sec. 2 (g); agency action includes failure to act.

APA Sec. 7 (c); The record should be supported by substantial evidence.

40 CFR 1502.1 Agencies are responsible for EIS full and fair discussion of impacts and alternatives, concise, clear and to the point, supported by evidence that agencies made necessary analyses.   

40 CFR 1502.24; Agencies shall insure the professional integrity, including scientific integrity,

40CFR 1506.1 and 1502.2 (f) No action should be taken that might have an adverse environmental impact or limit the choice of reasonable alternatives.   

40 CFR 1506.5 (c) Federal officials are responsible for independent evaluation, scope and content of the entire EIS.

 0 CFR 1502.24, Agencies shall insure the professional integrity, including scientific integrity.



Violation: By not including experts in toxicology or risk assessment who would recognize the inadequacies of the AERA method, Co-Leads failed to insure professional integrity and scientific integrity of the EIS scoping, both initial scoping and supplemental scoping with its Impact Assessment Planning (IAP) Air Resources group decisions. The Co-Leads produced AERA documentation demonstrating that a chemical engineer, a non-subject matter expert, has written the AERAs, making the AERAS invalid for the FEIS. 

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: 40CFR 1506.5, Agency is responsible for scope, must verify work; Federal officials are responsible for independent evaluation, scope and content of the entire EIS.

40 CFR 1502.24 Agencies shall insure the professional integrity, including scientific integrity.

40 CFR 1507.2, agency shall be capable to evaluate others’ products and use systematic interdisciplinary approach.



Violation:  Having determined that risk assessment was essential for the NorthMet EIS (a state Superfund brownfield with soils only studies), as indicated by use of an AERA, federal agencies are required to use full HHRA and ERA processes, not a local air only process that has no validity outside the state of Minnesota or used by any other agency/authority in the state of Minnesota for other program considerations.  This is a direct violation of federal laws, rules, and military regulations.  Any violation of UCMJ military regulations is a crime.

CEMP-RT Engineer Manual 200-1-4, Environmental Quality Risk Assessment Handbook Volume I: Human Health Evaluation, January 1999, and 

EM 200−1−4 Volume II: Environmental Evaluation, 31 December 2010. 

Cover memos in EMs. Use in conjunction with USEPA Risk Assessment Guidance for Superfund, HHRA and ERA. 

 

Violation:  In the EIS scoping Co-Leads failed to require the risks from all potential chemicals of concern at the project (both mine and plant) to be quantified to identify human health impacts with the EPA’s current scientific standards of human health risk assessment; planned discussions of how specified contaminants would meet standards with mitigation address only parts of the environmental impacts and this approach is not an appropriate method to quantify and assess all human health risks, on which mitigation is based.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated:  NEPA 101 (b), Use all practicable means consistent with national policy to assure for all Americans safe, healthful surroundings.

NEPA 102(2)(A)  Utilize a systematic, interdisciplinary approach in planning.

NEPA 102(2)(D)  Federal official has responsibilities for the scope, objectivity, and content of the entire statement and other responsibilities in the law.

40 CFR 1500.1 (b)  The information must be of high quality with accurate scientific analysis.

40 CFR 1502.1  Agencies are responsible for EIS full and fair discussion of impacts and  alternatives, concise, clear and to the point, supported by evidence that agencies made necessary analyses.



Violation:  Federal agencies failed to have state agency personnel order the project proposer to produce all technical reports supporting the EIS at a technical and procedural level in line with all federal civilian and military laws, rules, regulations, guidelines, guidance, federal executive orders, etc.  As a result, fatally flawed procedural and technical errors and omissions occurred.  These invalidate the EIS, FEIS, RODS, and permitting.  No permits can be done or issued under such conditions, because even if the state condones these fatal flaws, it violates its own statutes that are similar to NEPA and its regulations: 

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated:  Minn. Stat. Ch. 116D.01-116D.05, 

Minn. Stat. Ch. 116D.06 Effect of existing obligations, a statute that allows the state to adjust to federal requirements.



Violation: In the supplementary EIS scoping, Co-Leads failed to require the risks from all potential chemicals of concern at the project (both mine and plant) to be quantified to identify human health impacts with the EPA’s current scientific protocols of human health risk assessment; planned discussions of how specified contaminants would meet standards with mitigation address only parts of the environmental impacts and this approach is not an appropriate method to quantify and assess all human health risks which then must have mitigation identified.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated:  NEPA 101 (b), use all practicable means consistent with national policy to assure for all Americans safe, healthful surroundings.

102(2)(A), utilize a systematic, interdisciplinary approach in planning.

102(2)(D), The Federal official has responsibilities for the scope, objectivity, and content of the entire statement and other responsibility under this Act.

40 CFR 1500.1 (b) Agencies must insure that environmental information is available to public officials and citizens before decisions are made and before actions are taken. The information must be of high quality. Accurate scientific analysis, expert agency comments, and public scrutiny are essential to implementing NEPA.

40 CFR 1502.1 Agencies are responsible for EIS full and fair discussion of impacts and  alternatives, concise, clear and to the point, supported by evidence that agencies made necessary analyses.

Minn. Stat. Ch. 116D.03 Subd 2 (2) Utilize a systematic, interdisciplinary approach that will insure the integrated use of the natural and social sciences and the environmental arts in planning and in decision making which may have an impact on the environment; … consultation with persons in appropriate fields of specialization to ensure that the latest and most authoritative findings in administrative decision making as quickly and as amply as possible.



Violation:  Federal agencies failed to replace the terminated Memorandum of Agreement for the supplementary draft EIS scoping and planning. Federal agencies can only work in a state/federal NEPA project when formal MOUs are in place.  Lacking such, the project should have been stopped or terminated.  This is a legal violation. Since USACE was in violation, according to the UCMJ this is a crime.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: 40 CFR 1501.5(c) agencies shall determine lead and cooperating agencies by letter or memorandum.



Violation: Co-Leads allowed Bands’ substantive technical input to be ignored.  Specific technical corrections provided by the Bands were removed from FEIS text.  Violation of tribal rights, treaties, and MEPA/NEPA public participation requirements of state and federal government.



Violation:  During the supplementary EIS scoping, Co-leads failed to maintain a Memorandum of Agreement and as a result the Bands were eliminated from their rightful status as consulting and/or cooperating agencies, and were not allowed to participate in all of the supplementary EIS planning groups. Bands’ substantive technical input was ignored.  Specific technical corrections and information provided by tribe was removed from FEIS text to a rear chapter.  Violation of tribal rights, treaties, and MEPA/NEPA public participation requirements of state and federal government.

40 CFR 1501.5(c)  agencies shall determine lead and cooperating agencies by letter or memorandum.

40 CFR 1501.2 (d)(2)  agency shall consult early with Indian tribes.

40 CFR 1501.7 (a) (1)  agency shall invite participation of affected Indian tribes.

40 CFR 1502.16  EIS shall include discussions of conflicts between proposed action and objectives of Indian tribal treaty lands.

40 CFR 1508.5 An Indian tribe may by agreement become a cooperating agency.





GENERAL



Violation: The Co-leads failed to insure all federal statutes, rules, policy are followed in the EIS; 

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: NEPA 102(2)(D) Federal officials have responsibilities for the scope, objectivity, and content of the entire statement. No documentary evidence of these actions has been found in the public record.  In fact, what is in the public record demonstrates that these federal requirements were ignored.  

UCMJ makes such actions or inactions a crime.

40 CFR 1502. Agencies are responsible for EIS full and fair discussion of impacts and  alternatives, concise, clear and to the point, supported by evidence that agencies made necessary analyses.

40 CFR 1506.5 (c) Responsible federal officials shall independently evaluate, and take responsibility for scope and content.



Violation: Co-Leads did not have capabilities or contract with an independent scientific expert/s to assure the required interdisciplinary approach and identify appropriate method/s for measuring and assessing human health and environmental impacts including whether use of the AERA method for an EIS of this magnitude was appropriate.  No documentary evidence of these actions has been found in the public record.  In fact, what is in the public record demonstrates that these federal requirements were ignored.  USACE has the requirement to hire such experts. UCMJ makes such actions or inactions a crime.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: 40 CFR 1502.6, interdisciplinary preparation; Human health risk assessment and ecological risk assessment of a unique industry including risks in all media requires a toxicologist or experienced risk assessment expert in all media.

40 CFR 1507.2 Agency shall be capable to utilize a systematic, interdisciplinary approach.

Minn. Stat. Ch. 116D.03 Subd. 2. (2) consultation with persons in appropriate fields of specialization to ensure that the latest and most authoritative findings, utilize a systematic, interdisciplinary approach that will insure the integrated use of the natural and social sciences and the environmental arts.



Violation:  Both the Co-Leads’ federal officers of USACE and the USFS failed to meet their obligations to be responsible for federal NEPA requirements as agreed within the Memorandum of Understanding for the production of the EIS and as described in the regulations, as demonstrated by this entire set of listed violations.  Public record demonstrates that federal authorities did not provide any list of their unique requirements to the state for inclusion in the FEIS, did not complain in writing when their standards of performance were violated, did not insist on subject matter experts writing technical reports of summarization in the FEIS, did not insist that all final documents, should they exist, be appended to the FEIS and made public, and did not even notice missing final certified reports in the FEIS.  This is proof positive that federal authorities violated federal law, rules and regulations.  Given that USACE did or did not do what was required, is a crime under the UCMJ.  Given federal crimes, errors and omissions, the FEIS is no longer valid, stopping all permitting.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: 40 CFR Part 1500. This Part tells the Agencies and their federal officers what they must do to comply with the procedures and achieve the goals of NEPA.



Violation: The Co-leads did not assure supporting evidence reports were finalized as indicated by signatures of responsible qualified authors. With unsigned incomplete reports, the Co-Leads have no basis for making a determination of impacts in the FEIS; 

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: 40CFR 1506.5(c) Federal officials are responsible for independent evaluation, scope and content of the entire EIS.



Violation:  Co-Leads did not assure that author and subject matter of the unsigned reports were available to reviewers and the public. 

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: APA Sec. 3 (c); matters of official record shall be available to persons concerned.

40 CFR 1500.2 (d) Agency must encourage and facilitate public involvement.



Violation:  Co-Leads failed to assure names and qualifications of authors of significant background papers are in the FEIS list of preparers, including the AERA, a basis for FEIS statements of impact.;

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: 40 CFR 1502.17; 



Violation:  The Co-Leads failed to assure the FEIS was completed -- it is based on many unsigned major reports; the public was denied the right to make comments during the EIS public comment period on the final reports and their conclusions about the EIS. 

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: APA Sec 3 (c); matters of official record shall be available to persons concerned.

40 CFR 1500.2 (d) Agency must encourage and facilitate public involvement.



Violation:  The Co-Leads did not ensure that the EIS is concise, clear, and to the point when they added a separate chapter whereto the science and comments of the Bands were relegated, causing the public great difficulty in associating important information in Chapter 8 with applicable text in Chapters 1-7, the opposite of clarity and organization. 

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: NEPA sec 102 (a); 

40 CFR 1500.2 (b); Agency must encourage and facilitate public involvement.

40 CFR 1502.2 (a), analytic rather than encyclopedic. (c). concise.



Violation: Co-Leads failed to ensure that legitimate scientific and other comments from the Bands must be included in a full and fair analysis of environmental impacts;

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: 40 CFR 1502.1 Agencies are responsible for EIS full and fair discussion of impacts and alternatives, concise, clear and to the point, supported by evidence that agencies made necessary analyses.

Minn. Stat. Ch. 116D.03, Subd. 2 utilize a systematic, interdisciplinary approach, consultation with persons in appropriate fields of specialization to ensure the latest and most authoritative findings.





UNDUE INFLUENCE



Violation: Project documents state that the project proposer and proposer’s contractor took part and leadership roles in interagency meetings to determine their requirements for a successful FEIS product.  Co-leads failed to assure the EIS was deliberated and decided without undue influence, by allowing PolyMet and its contractor with fiduciary interests to be actively participating members in the Interagency Planning Groups (IAP) as opposed to information providers in the scoping process.  Their presence directly and indirectly affected both full and fair discussion and also rigorous exploration and objective evaluation of impacts. USEPA, USFS, and USACE staff involved should have recognized this impropriety, objected and walked out.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: APA Sec. 10 (e) Agency action, findings, and conclusions are unlawful when found to be arbitrary, capricious, and abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law; without observance of procedure required by law; unsupported by substantial evidence, and other conditions.  

40 CFR 1502.14 (a)  Agencies shall rigorously explore and objectively evaluate all reasonable alternatives

40 CFR 1506.5 Agency shall independently evaluate/verify for accuracy the information, issues, scope, content of EAW and EIS. Independent means not looking to others for one’s own opinions (Webster’s Dictionary), here especially avoiding conflict of financial or other interest (drawing on the inference from 40 CFR 1506.5 (b) the required disclosure of the selected contractor to prepare the EIS).

40 CFR 1502.1  Agencies are responsible for EIS full and fair discussion of impacts and  alternatives, concise, clear and to the point, supported by evidence that agencies made necessary analyses.

40 CFR 1502.24  Agencies shall insure the professional integrity, including scientific integrity, of the discussions and analyses in the EIS.

Personal knowledge, Maureen Johnson as former MPCA Superfund project manager. Federal employees and state employees who conduct federal actions know they must avoid even the appearance of conflict of interest.



Violation:  In the draft scoping EAW, Co-Leads failed to independently evaluate and identify that the included summary of an AERA was produced under the MPCA-administered air quality permit action with the major effect that the Co-Leads accepted, without evidence of the complete report with calculations, the permit-based recommendation that air emissions would not have potential for significant impact, potentially prejudicing selection of alternatives by eliminating an alternative that might require more mitigation. If a complete HHRA were performed by a qualified preparer, it would show whether or not alternative(s) is sufficient.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: APA Sec. 10 (e) Court will hold unlawful agency action unsupported by substantial evidence.

40 CFR 1506.5 Agency shall independently evaluate/verify for accuracy the information, issues, scope, content of EAW and EIS.

40 CFR 1506.1, No action (e.g., permitting) in EIS Agencies shall commit resources prejudicing selection of alternatives.

40 CFR 1508.18(4) defines actions with effects that may be major and which are potentially subject to federal control and responsibility that are not allowed during the EIS, including permit or other regulatory decision. 



Violation: In the EIS, Co-leads failed to assure major supporting evidence reports were finalized as indicated by signatures of responsible qualified authors. Furthermore, numerous unsigned incomplete drafts within the FEIS demonstrate the Co-Leads violated federal regulations by using proposer’s unfinished permitting products in the EIS, for which the EIS presented no evidence of verification of the work, which committed resources that prejudiced the FEIS findings and limited the selection of alternatives.  

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: 40 CFR 1506.5(c) Agency official is responsible for scope, content, must independently evaluate work.

40 CFR 1502.17 Names of persons responsible for particular analyses including background papers shall be identified.

40 CFR 1506.1, No action (e.g., permitting) in EIS Agencies shall commit resources prejudicing selection of alternatives.

40 CFR 1508.18(4) defines actions with effects that may be major and which are potentially subject to federal control and responsibility that are not allowed during the EIS, including permit or other regulatory action.

NEPA Sec. 101 (b) 2,3., Federal agencies are responsible to assure use of resources without risk to health. 

NEPA 102(2)(D), federal officer has responsibility for scope objectivity and content of the entire statement.

40CFR 1501.2 (a), Federal agencies must use a systematic interdisciplinary approach to insure proper use of science.



Violation: Co-leads deceived the public into thinking the PolyMet project would have less impacts than the Cliffs Erie taconite facility. Agencies failed to require the no action alternative as described in CEQ’s 40 questions. Q. 3 requires the no action alternative would be the Cliffs Erie site condition after implementation of site closure/cleanup regulatory requirements. Instead, Co-Leads describe the no action alternative as the Cliffs Erie site with no cleanup, which would not happen and it violates the Q. 3 requirement.

40 CFR 1502.14 (d)  Agencies shall include the alternative of no action.

CEQ Memorandum, March 16, 1981, Questions and Answers About the NEPA Regulations,  3. No action alternative.



Violation: MDNR, USACE and USFS failed to insure professional integrity when they designed the coordination and communication plan so that the proposer and its advocates, with financial interests in mining promotion could participate, lead, negotiate and influence scoping and planning meetings and outcomes. 

One might argue the DNR’s mission of promoting mining puts their Lands and Minerals staff and leadership in conflict of interest to perform as decision-maker for mining EISs.  

Law/ Regulation/Policy/Violated: 40 CFR 1502.24  Agencies shall insure the professional integrity, including scientific integrity.



Violation: Co-Lead failed to respect the Bands’ expertise and to honor treaty rights when they invited Indian Tribes (Bands) to seek participation as cooperating agencies, then limited Bands’ participation in areas in which the Bands are the experts; they are federally authorized to manage water quality on their reservations, and possess unequaled knowledge of the treaty 1854 Ceded Territories in which they live.  Co-Leads made the determinations in the Bands’ areas of expertise without the Bands’ input. (FEIS, Band comments)

Law/ Regulation/Policy/Violated:  Executive Order 13175 of November 6, 2000, President William Clinton, Consultation and Coordination With Indian Tribal Governments, 

(a) Agencies shall respect Indian tribal self-government and sovereignty, honor tribal treaty and other rights, and strive to meet the responsibilities that arise from the unique legal relationship between the Federal Government and Indian tribal governments. (Sec. 10. Judicial Review. This order is intended only to improve the internal management of the executive branch, and is not intended to create any

right, benefit, or trust responsibility, substantive or procedural, enforceable at law by a party against the United States, its agencies, or any person.)

40 CFR 1508.5 An Indian tribe may by agreement become a cooperating agency, with responsibility under 40 CFR 1501.6.

40 CFR 1501.6 (a) environmental analysis and proposals using special expertise, to the maximum extent possible. 

(b) Each cooperating agency shall 

(1) Participate in the NEPA process at the earliest possible time.

(2) Participate in the scoping process (described below in §1501.7).

(3) Assume on request of the lead agency responsibility for developing information and preparing environmental analyses including portions of the environmental impact statement concerning which the cooperating agency has special expertise.

(4) Make available staff support at the lead agency’s request to enhance the latter’s interdisciplinary capability.

(5) Normally use its own funds.

40 CFR 1502.9 (a)  The agency shall make every effort to disclose and discuss at appropriate points in the draft statement all major points of view on the environmental impacts of the alternatives including the proposed action.



Violation:  In its review of Co-Leads’ proposed action under Section 309 of the Clean Air Act, USEPA failed to identify environmental justices conflicts between the Co-Leads and the Bands or even to read the Bands comments which indicated the issues, so it failed to ensure that the agencies have fully analyzed environmental effects on minority communities and low-income communities, including human health, social, and economic effects, and in defining the area of potential effects. In human health, USEPA failed to review the permitting screening AERA for this complex project, and in so reviewing USEPA should have found there was no final complete AERA to review. 

Law/ Regulation/Policy/Violated: Clean Air Act, Section 309; 

Final Guidance For Incorporating Environmental Justice Concerns in EPA's NEPA Compliance Analyses, April 1998.



Violation:  Co-leads failed to use cooperating agencies’ expertise and insure environmental justice when they did not allow consulting parties the Bands, to participate in Geochemistry, Geotechnical, and Evaluation Criteria workgroups. Critical negative effects were the losses of Bands’ scientific knowledge from inclusion in the FEIS and an opportunity to demonstrate cultural respect for water and earth with a long view of the 1854 Treaty lands and tribal rights. The Co-Leads’ conduct disgraces their agencies.  As scientists, we the authors are embarrassed by the disrespectful conduct of the Co-Leads. 

Law/ Regulation/Policy/Violated: 1501.6 (a) (2) Co-Leads shall use the environmental analysis and proposals of cooperating agencies with jurisdiction by law or special expertise, to the maximum extent possible.

Executive Order 12898, "Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations," President Clinton February 11, 1994.



Violation:  During scoping Co-leads failed to use cooperating agencies’ expertise and insure environmental justice when Co-Leads determined without any evaluation or consultation with the Bands that there would be no effect to usufructuary rights or natural resources of importance to the Bands.

Law/ Regulation/Policy/Violated: 1501.6 (a) (2) Co-Leads shall use the environmental analysis and proposals of cooperating agencies with jurisdiction by law or special expertise, to the maximum extent possible.

Executive Order 12898, "Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations," President Clinton February 11, 1994.



Violation: Co-Leads failed to include scientific evidence provided by commenters.  Without identifying all known or likely contaminants to water, no mitigation can be planned and found to be adequate.  Co-Leads failed to identify during the environmental justice evaluation that the FEIS did not evaluate increases in specific conductance due to mitigation that will likely cause changes in aquatic life with subsequent changes in preferred edible fish species and aquatic plants abundance for the Bands, minority populations and low-income populations.

Law/ Regulation/Policy/Violated: Executive Order 12898, "Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations," President Clinton February 11, 1994.

40 CFR 1502.22(a)  If the incomplete information relevant to reasonably foreseeable significant adverse impacts is essential to a reasoned choice among alternatives and the overall costs of obtaining it are not exorbitant, the agency shall include the information in the environmental impact statement.



Violation:  Agencies actively worked to include project proposer interests in project document development and actively excluded the public and tribes from getting their substantive additions/changes in the record and final documents.  MDNR, USACE, USFS and USEPA officials, as opposed to agencies, responsible for objectivity of the EIS, allowed the proposer and its advocate, with financial interests in the success of this project, to have undue influence in the SDEIS scoping, planning and content, affecting the objectivity of the process and the ultimate content of the FEIS, and allowed the appearance of conflict of interest to enter the scoping process.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: NEPA Title 1, Section 102 (D), 40 CFR 1506.5 Agency shall independently evaluate/verify for accuracy the information, issues, scope, content of EAW and EIS.

40 CFR 1502.1 Agencies are responsible for EIS full and fair discussion of impacts and  alternatives, concise, clear and to the point, supported by evidence that agencies made necessary analyses.

40 CFR 1502.9 (a)  The agency shall make every effort to disclose and discuss at appropriate points in the draft statement all major points of view on the environmental impacts of the alternatives including the proposed action.



Violation: MDNR, USACE and USFS failed to comply with the itemized Federal Council on Environmental Quality (CEQ) regulations in this list of violations.  All these violations of laws and rules demonstrate bad faith, putting the entire FEIS and its inaccurate and incomplete science into unacceptability.  The Co-Leads failed to maintain and support professional scientific interpretations of the analyses.

Law/ Regulation /Policy/Violated: 40 CFR 1507.1 All agencies of the federal government shall comply with these regulations.



Violation:  Courts require a hard look* by government agencies performing an EIS. State and federal agencies worked hand in glove with the project proposer to cherry-pick data, manipulate data using averages instead of ranges (no wonder the P90 came out so well – it is based on the P90 ability to meet standards with the averages of data, not the highs that cause standard exceedances), and exclude data that would provide anything other than the pre-determined outcome (improperly deleted outliers reflect the heterogeneity of the rock); all to create acceptable risks and imagine sufficient adaptive engineering solutions including perfect control of contaminant releases all of the time with unlimited funding to correct noncompliance. The asterisked Hard-Look* discussion below will demonstrate, using factual examples**, how state and federal agencies actively evaded court-required hard look at actual data and site-specific information.  

NEPA Sec. 101  Use all practicable means and measures, fulfill the responsibilities of each generation as trustee of the environment for succeeding generation assure for all Americans safe, healthful, productive, and aesthetically and culturally pleasing surroundings; Sec. 102  all agencies shall do this list; Sec. 104 comply with criteria or standards of environmental quality.

Minn. Stat. Ch. 116D.01  Promote efforts that will prevent or eliminate damage to the environment and biosphere and stimulate the health and welfare of human beings;

116D.02  Use all practicable means and measures, foster and promote the general welfare, to create and maintain conditions under which human beings and nature can exist in productive harmony, and fulfill the social, economic, and other requirements of present and future generations of the state's people; Subd. 2 (2) assure for all people of the state safe, healthful, productive, and aesthetically and culturally pleasing surroundings.



*Hard-Look Doctrine is a principle of Administrative law that says a court should carefully review an administrative-agency decision to ensure that the agencies have genuinely engaged in reasoned decision making.   A court is required to intervene if it “becomes aware, especially from a combination of danger signals, that the agency has not really taken a ‘hard look’ at the salient problems.”  The Administrative Procedure Act instructs federal courts to invalidate agency decisions that are “arbitrary” and “capricious”.  (USLegal.com definition)



WAIT Radio v. F.C.C., 418 F.2d 1153, 1157 (D.C.Cir. 1969)) A hard look entails complete discussion of relevant issues, as well as meaningful statements regarding the actual impact of proposed projects. ((Earth Island Inst. V. U.S. Forest Serv., 442F.3d 1147, 1172 (9th Cir. 2006))



	

** Example

Identifying Chemicals of Potential Concern

The FEIS discusses and summarizes an AREA that was performed for the FEIS. An AERA itself is a novel application developed by MPCA. An AERA might work for emissions that are chemically simple. However this project is chemically complex. The AERA has no way to deal with multiple chemicals in multiple pathways. 



This one example, and there are many more, is only describing some basic concepts. The PolyMet NorthMet mine site will produce a plethora of chemicals of potential concern. This includes but is not limited to the minerals and individual chemicals contained within the ore and waste rock. Upon blasting these chemicals will be released directly or indirectly into the air, soils, sediments, surface water, ground water and wetlands.  The FEIS states that blasting of rock will occur 2 to 3 times a week. Each blast will produce 200,000-300,000 tons of broken rock (FEIS 3.0, p 3-42). 



A MDNR report stated about the sulfate mineral Norite, a combination of minerals and sulfide minerals commonly found where PolyMet will mine in the Duluth Complex: “reducing norite rock particle size to less than 0.5 mm leads to near complete exposure of the majority of the sulfide mineral surfaces.” (Wentz, 2013). It is reasonable to predict that blasting will release large volumes of this size particle. This size particle is available for dissolution in water or in such as lungs or organs, and a 2.5 mm particle is able to go to the deepest parts of the lungs, so this Norite size is even smaller.  



While searching published geological documents on the Partridge River Intrusion we have located 43 individual chemicals and average maximum and minimum concentrations of each found in the non-mineralized rock (waste rock) (Severson,1990). The FEIS identifies another 15 minerals and their concentrations (percentages), found in the rock (PolyMet 2007b, table 3). From this data it is reasonable to expect that blasted rock will release large amounts of fine particulates into the air and ultimately will be deposited onto the soils, wetlands, surface waters, and sediments. 



Additionally, the blasting agents used are Ammonium Nitrate Fuel Oil, a chemically unidentified “booster”, and “unidentified emulsion”. Their use will be at the following rates: ANFO, 833,333 lb/month; Booster, 1,555 lb/month; Emulsion, 387,500 lb/month (FEIS Table 5.2.13-1). This totals 1,222,388 lb of blasting agents used per month. A number of articles in the published literature have examined residues from the use of ANFO blasting in wet environments. One such study demonstrated that toxic fumes from blasting contains: NO, NO2, CO, bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate, C12 to C28 aliphatic hydrocarbons, methane, benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, xylene.  In addition, undetonated ANFO, which always occurs in a blast, can deposit in surface and ground water as nitrates, nitrite, ammonium (Defense R&D Canada 2010). 



The chemicals of potential concern from our brief review above total 68. The AERA summary identified only 11 chemicals of concern at the mine site (Barr 2013i). There is no complete listing of the list of potential chemicals of concern in the AREA, nor is there a discussion of how each was assessed. As a result it is impossible for co-lead or federal agency, the MDNR or the public to give a “hard look” to review the accuracy or completeness of the AREA. 



As a result it is reasonable to state a major omission exists since:

Blasting agents will release significant quantities of chemicals to the human environment (air, soil, wetlands, surface water, sediments, and groundwater, waste rock and ore rock). 

The AREA cannot be reviewed for accuracy or completeness;

An analysis of human health impacts related to soils, surface water, sediments and groundwater were not performed.

In summary, 

1. Only a very rudimentary review of potential chemicals of concern at the mine site from blasting and geochemistry alone finds 68 potential chemicals of concern. Both the concentrations of each combined with the sheer mass of rock to be blasted describes potential impacts.

Thus the AERA is not sufficiently robust to capture necessary releases and risks to humans and ecological receptors.

2. No human health risk assessment has been performed on the proposed project that includes direct and indirect impacts to soil, surface and ground water, and sediments.  

3. With no supporting full report with calculations in the FEIS, the AERA cannot be reviewed for accuracy and completeness. 

4. The AERA fails to satisfy the requirements of the federal laws and regulations nor the DNR’s own operating statute MN Stat. 103G.297 (2) Water appropriation permit cannot be issued only be issued if the project cannot be shown to protect public health. As a result the DNR has a lack of foundation to proceed with water appropriation permits or any other permit.
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